STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Greenville County  
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**  
JUN 19 2013  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Opinion No. 2013-UP-058 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 1/30/2013)

09-GS-23-10018.

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

BOBBY J. BARTON,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000804

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's denial of Barton's motion to suppress the identification via the photo lineup when the lineup was not reliable because the alleged victim was inebriated at the time of the incident, and had seen Barton's photo in a "mug shot" magazine prior to the photo lineup?
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's refusal of Barton's complete Request to Charge #7 on the accuracy of identification?
3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court in giving the jury a second charge on armed robbery at the request of the state solely to include the words "or representation of a weapon" when neither the victim nor the co-defendant witness saw the knife allegedly used?
4. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's refusal to relieve Barton's trial attorney and appoint another attorney, after Barton argued that his attorney breached his confidentiality by bringing to light at the preliminary hearing that co-defendant witness, Patricia Rice, had lived with Barton previously?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 16, 2010, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Bobby Joe Barton on the charges of armed robbery (AR) and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. On August 9 – 10, 2010, Barton proceeded to trial before the Honorable Edward W. Miller and a jury. Barton was represented by Susannah Ross, and the state was represented by L. Mark Moyer, assistant solicitor. The jury found Barton guilty of armed robbery, but found him not guilty of the possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Judge Miller sentenced Barton to confinement for twenty-five years. Barton's attorney filed a notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals affirmed Barton's convictions and sentences on January 30, 2013. State v. Barton, Op. No. 2013-UP-058 (Ct. App. filed January 30, 2013). App. 1-5. Barton's attorney filed a petition for rehearing on February 14, 2013. The Court of Appeals issued an order denying the petition on March 20, 2013. App. 24. This petition for a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals follows.

## QUESTION

1.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's denial of Barton's motion to suppress the identification via the photo lineup when the lineup was not reliable because the alleged victim was inebriated at the time of the incident, and had seen Barton's photo in a "mug shot" magazine prior to the photo lineup.

On July 25, 2009, Edwin Perez was sitting behind his trailer in the trailer park where he lived with his brothers. The brothers were inside at this time. He had been drinking beer since he got home from his landscaping job on that Friday. R. 32, ll. 18 – 25; R. 36, ll.16 – 18; R. 70, ll. 4 – 11; R. 72, ll. 14 – 25; R. 73, ll. 1 – 25; R. 74, ll. 1 – 10. All of a sudden, a man and woman appeared. The man allegedly pushed him down, and held a knife to his throat and took his wallet which contained \$500. Perez did not see the knife but felt it against his throat. R. 75, ll. 1 – 25; R. 76, ll. 1 – 25; R. 77, ll. 1 – 25. He had seen the woman before a few times when she took the path through the trailer park to another neighborhood. He had seen the man maybe twice. R. 78, ll. 1 – 25; R. 79, ll. 1 – 4.

He said it was dark outside as it happened around midnight. However, there were some lights at the entrance of the trailer. R. 35, ll. 21 – 25; R. 36, ll. 1 – 25; R. 92, ll. 3 – 8.

Perez called 911 but hung up because the police were speaking in English. The police could not understand him.<sup>1</sup> The police called back, and talked to his brother who spoke English. His brother interpreted for him. R. 41, ll. 15 – 25; R. 42, ll. 1 – 3; R. 82, l. 1 – 10; R. 79, ll. 5 – 25.

---

<sup>1</sup> Perez did not speak English and required an interpreter during the trial to translate. R. 32, ll. 18 – 20.

The description Perez gave to the police was that the robber was a black male in his mid-twenties to early thirties. R. 32, ll. 5 – 8; R. 108, ll. 3 – 25; R. 109, ll. 1 – 23. Perez admitted on cross examination during the Neil v. Biggers<sup>2</sup> pretrial hearing that he was not surprised that the officers described him as “grossly intoxicated” on the night of the incident. R. 42, ll. 8 – 17.

About a week after the incident, on August 3, 2009, Investigator Mike Jarvis of the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office talked with Perez. They rode through the nearby neighborhoods and found the woman who was at the robbery. R. 123, ll. 20 – 25; R. 125, ll. 1 – 25; R. 126, ll. 1 – 25.

The woman was identified as Patricia Rice who had been in a romantic relationship with Petitioner Barton off and on for ten years. R. 127, ll. 1 – 25; R. 128, ll. 1-2; R. 110, ll. 18 – 25; R. 112, ll. 8 – 23. Rice told the investigators that she was present when the robbery occurred. R. 115, ll. 1 – 25. Rice was arrested and charged with this robbery. The charges were later dismissed. R. 111, ll. 1 – 12. Rice told the investigators on August 3, 2009, that Barton had committed this robbery of Perez on July 25, 2009. R. 115, ll. 14 – 25; R. 117, ll. 1 – 25; R. 128, ll. 1 – 20. Barton was arrested the next day, August 4, 2009. R. 128, ll. 21 – 25; R. 129, ll. 1 – 3.

About two weeks after Barton was arrested, Perez found a “mug shot” magazine which contained hundreds of pictures of people who had been arrested. He looked through the magazine and saw Barton’s mug shot. R. 88, ll. 1 – 25; R. 89, ll. 1 – 25; R. 90, ll. 1 – 6. Barton and Rice were the only mug shots for armed robberies in the magazine. R. 106, ll. 2 – 25; R. 107, ll. 1 – 3. Perez did not call the police and tell them of the mug shot. R. 96, ll. 16 – 25; R. 97, ll. 1 – 12; R. 98, ll. 15 – 20.

---

<sup>2</sup> Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972).

On January 8, 2010, about five months after the robbery, Investigator Tracy King called Perez to come into the sheriff's office and view a photo line up. Six photos were included with Barton in the lower center of the six. The photo used of Barton was the mug shot taken when he was arrested on August 4, 2009. R. 99, ll. 9 – 25; R. 100, ll. 1 – 24. Perez selected the photo of Barton as the person who robbed him. R. 102, ll. 1 – 25; R. 103, ll. 1 – 25; R. 104, ll. 1 – 23.

Investigator King agreed that the picture used in the photo line up was the same mug shot that appeared in the "mug shot" magazine. R. 105, ll. 24 – 25; R. 106, ll. 1 – 23; R. 107, ll. 1 – 3; R. 45, l. 1 – 6.

During the Neil v. Biggers hearing, defense counsel called an expert witness, Dr. Lori Van Wallendael, who was an associate professor of psychology at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. R. 47, ll. 16 – 25. She was qualified as an expert in eyewitness identification. Her specialty was eyewitness memory. R. 48, ll. 1 – 25.

Dr. Van Wallendael testified that the identification by Perez was unreliable. R. 49, ll. 13 – 25; R. 50, ll. 1 – 4. She explained the factors that made the identification unreliable. The first one was that the victim/witness was inebriated at the time of the incident. People who were inebriated did not take in as much information from a scene as someone who was not inebriated, and were thus more likely to make a false identification. R. 50, ll. 4 – 18.

The second factor was that a weapon was said to be involved which created a greater likelihood of false identification because the person was more focused on the weapon. R. 50, ll. 22 – 25; R. 51, ll. 1 – 10.

The fact that Perez was able to give a better description of the female co-defendant Rice meant that he was paying less attention to the male than female. R. 52, ll. 1 – 12.

The photo lineup was not reliable because Perez had prior exposure to the mug shot. The fact that the state was not involved actually made the situation worse because there was no controlled circumstance. Also, because Perez had seen the photo before, he may have selected it because it looked familiar due to the prior exposure. R. 52, ll. 13 – 25; R. 53, ll. 1 – 25; R. 54, ll. 1 – 8.

The doctor said the photo lineup should have been based on the description given by the victim, not on Barton's physical description. R. 54, ll. 9 – 25; R. 55, ll. 1 – 25.

The doctor testified that the two most significant factors which made the identification unreliable were the victim's state of intoxication, and the prior exposure to the "mug shot" magazine. R. 56, ll. 1 – 5.

The solicitor objected to the testimony of the expert concerning the prior exposure to the mug shot because there was no state action involved. R. 52, ll. 17 – 25.

Defense counsel argued that the in-court identification should not be allowed because the out-of-court identification was suggestive pursuant to Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972). Counsel argued there was state action involved in the identification process. R. 59, ll. 11 – 25.

Counsel argued the second inquiry related to due process and whether there was a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Counsel argued there was a violation of due process whether there was governmental action or not. Counsel argued that the exposure to the "mug shot" magazine was a violation of due process since Barton was the only man in the magazine with an armed robbery charge, and the state used the same mug shot in the photo lineup that the victim saw in the magazine. R. 60, ll. 1 – 25; R. 61, ll. 1 – 5.

The judge ruled that the “mug shot” magazine was not the result of government action, and was not admitted. He ruled that the photo lineup was appropriate and was admitted. The expert did not testify before the jury. R. 61, ll. 6 – 25; R. 62, ll. 1 – 3; R. 2 - 4.

In Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), the United States Supreme Court set out a two prong process to determine if an out-of-court identification was admissible: (1) if the identification process was unduly suggestive and (2) if the identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Neil v. Biggers, id.; State v. Lewis, 354 S.C. 222, 580 S.E.2d 149 (2004); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000); State v. Brown, 356 S.C. 496, 589 S.E.2d 781 (2003).

An in-court identification of an accused is inadmissible if the out-of court identification was so unduly suggestive that it created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001). Neil v. Biggers cites five factors to determine reliability: (1) opportunity of witness to view the criminal at time of crime (2) witness’ degree of attention (3) accuracy of witness’s prior description of criminal (4) level of certainty by witness at time of confrontation (5) length of time between crime and confrontation. Neil v. Biggers, supra.

In State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004), and State v. Turner, 373 S.C. 121, 644 S.E.2d 693 (2007), the South Carolina Supreme Court held that a criminal defendant may be deprived of due process of law by an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.

The case of People v. McDonald, 37 Cal. 3d 351 (1984), held that there can be testimony that people who identify can be mistaken as there were factors that jurors would not think about

which may influence a person's ability to identify, such as cross-racial identification or the effects on memory of the witness's exposure to suggestions.

In State v. Whaley, 305 S.C. 138, 406 S.E.2d 369 (1991), the Supreme Court held that expert testimony on eyewitness reliability was admissible, where main issue is identity of the perpetrator, sole evidence of identity is eyewitness identification, and identification is not substantially corroborated by evidence giving it independent reliability.

In State v. Tisdale, 338 S.C. 607, 527 S.E.2d 389 (Ct. App. 2000), the Court of Appeals ruled that the pretrial identifications based on media representations of the defendant did not violate the defendant's due process rights because the televised bond hearing and newspaper article were non-governmental sources of the suggestiveness.

Barton's case is distinguished because the suggestiveness came from the mug shot which was taken by the government when Barton was arrested. The "mug shot" magazine had to obtain the mug shot through the state.

In United States v. Holley, 502 F.2d 273 (4th Circuit 1974), the Court held that to guard against misidentification, it is not enough that the trial judge be specifically alerted to the detailed factors that enter into the totality of the circumstances; the jury should also be charged. In Holley, where there was no evidence of identification except of one eyewitness, the Fourth Circuit wrote:

Where the identification testimony was so lacking in positiveness as to strongly suggest the likelihood of irreparable misidentification, the jury should have been specifically instructed to consider the possibility of misidentification under the specific circumstances revealed by the evidence.

In United States v. Telfaire, 469 F.2d 552 (U.S. Ct App. District of Columbia 1972), the District Court held that in deciding whether to permit a criminal case to go to the jury where the

identification rests on the testimony of one witness, trial court should determine whether the totality of the circumstances gives rise to a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

Here, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the eyewitness identification because none of the circumstances affecting the reliability of the photo lineup were brought about by improper police conduct. App. 1-2. The Court misapprehended the issue as the magazine had to obtain the photo through the state in some way, and this same photo was used in the photo lineup which was prejudicial to Barton as it made the identification unreliable.

In Barton's case, the identification was unduly suggestive and should not have been allowed into evidence.

## QUESTION

### II.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's refusal of Barton's complete Request to Charge #7 on the accuracy of identification.

In his trial for armed robbery of Perez on July 25, 2009, defense counsel requested a jury charge on identification of Barton by Perez. Counsel said that her Request # 7 addressed identification specifically. The judge said: "Right." R. 134, ll. 10 – 24.

Following jury charges, the judge asked if there any objections to the charges. Defense counsel objected that the judge did not charge points 3 -6 on her Request # 7 regarding identification. She noted the judge did not charge these points which related to witness credibility, such as whether the witness was paying careful attention. Counsel asked the judge to present those points to the jury. R. 178, ll. 1 – 13.

The judge said he thought the issues were adequately covered in his charge. The solicitor agreed with the judge. The judge said the objection was noted for the record. R. 178, ll. 14 – 21.

Defense counsel's Request # 7 provided, in pertinent part:

In evaluating the reliability of the identification of the defendant, you must consider the circumstances under which the eyewitness made the observations. In this regard, you may consider:

3. Whether the witness seemed as though he was paying careful attention to what was going on;
4. Whether any description given by the witness was close to the way the defendant actually looked;
5. How much time had passed between the crime and the first identification by the witness;
6. Whether, at the time of the first identification by the witness, the conditions were such that the witness was likely to make a mistake because he was "cued" by the circumstances. For example, was the

witness asked to pick out the person he saw from a group of similar people, was the witness asked to pick out the defendant from a group of dissimilar people, or was witness asked if the defendant standing alone was the person involved.

See Request #7, R. 193.

The judge gave the following charge:

An issue in this case is the identification of the defendant as the person who committed the crime charged. The state has the burden of proving identity beyond a reasonable doubt. You must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt the accuracy of the defendant---excuse me---the accuracy of the identification of the defendant before you may convict him. Identification testimony is an expression of belief or impression by a witness. You must determine the accuracy of the identification of the defendant. You must consider the believability of each identification witness in the same way as any other witness. You may consider whether the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the offender at the time of the offense. This will be affected by things like how long or short a time was available to view, how far or close the witness was, the lighting conditions and whether the witness had the chance to see or know the person in the past. Once again, I instruct you that the burden of proof on the state extends to every element of the crime charged, and this burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the defendant as the person who committed this offense.

R. 170, ll. 8 – 25; R. 171, ll. 1 – 11.

The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial. State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391 (2001); State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 364, 380 S.E.2d 834, 835 (1989). A trial court's decision regarding jury charges will not be reversed, where the charges as a whole properly charged the law to be applied. State v. Rye, 375 S.C. 119, 651 S.E.2d 321 (2007).

A jury charge is sufficient if, when considered as a whole, it covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Curry, 370 S.C. 674, 636 S.E.2d 649 (Ct. App. 2006). Jury instructions should be considered as a whole, and if as a whole they are free from error, any isolated portions which may

be misleading do not constitute reversible error. State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 446 S.E.2d 411 (1994).

In State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E.2d 591 (2011), the Supreme Court held that in reviewing jury charges for error, the Supreme Court must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.

The Supreme Court held in State v. Day, 341 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 431 (2000), that the failure to tailor jury instructions to adequately reflect the facts and theories presented by the defendant constituted reversible error. In State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989), the Supreme Court reversed and remanded Fuller's conviction of voluntary manslaughter. The Court found reversible error where the trial court failed to charge on the elements of self-defense which were applicable to the issues raised by the defendant.

The only evidence against Barton consisted of the identification of him by Perez, the victim, and Co-defendant Rice. There was no physical evidence such as DNA. Rice did not see a weapon, and testified that she did not really see anything but saw Barton run. R. 131, ll. 11 – 14; R. 115, ll. 14 – 25; R. 213, ll. 5 – 25. Rice was a biased witness because she was initially charged with the armed robbery. Her charges were dismissed the week before Barton's trial after she spent eleven months in jail on the charges. R. 111, ll. 1 – 12; R. 121, ll. 17 – 25; R. 122, ll. 1 – 25. She was convicted in 2008 for lying to the police about her name. R. 111, ll. 13 – 21.

Therefore, Perez's identification was significant evidence. The jury asked to rehear Perez's testimony. R. 179, ll. 1 – 25; R. 180, ll. 1 – 14. Because his identification was suggestive based on his inebriation at the time, and his prior exposure to the mug shot which was used in the photo lineup, the judge should have given all of the requested jury charge which was more on point than

the charge he gave. The totality of the circumstances required that the trial judge give a detailed instruction to the jury on the identification.

The Court of Appeals wrote that Barton had ample opportunity, through cross-examination and closing argument, to highlight the circumstances that may have affected the two eyewitness identifications. App. 4. However, in State v. Woomer, 277 S.C. 170, 284 S.E.2d 357 (1981), the Supreme Court wrote in South Carolina, the argument of counsel is not a substitute for a jury charge.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the issue because the judge's charge did not include the factors from Neil v. Biggers, *supra*. The requested charge contained factors very close to the Biggers factors which constitute the law applicable to the critical issue in this case. The court of Appeals over-ruled on other grounds, State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991). The Court of Appeals' ruling is therefore an error of law.

## QUESTION

### III.

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