STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
Appeal From Greenville County  
Hon. Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2013-000804  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

AUG 28 2013

**S.C. Supreme Court**

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Bobby J. Barton,

Petitioner.

\_\_\_\_\_  
Opinion No. 2013-UP-058 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 30, 2013)  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

\_\_\_\_\_  
ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

jury charge, an appellate court considers the charge as a whole in view of the evidence and issues presented at trial. State v. Lee Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 406, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007).

In U.S. v. Telfaire, 469 F.2d 552 (D.C. Cir. 1972), the Court recommended “that trial courts include, as a matter of routine, an identification instruction” and provided a model identification instruction. See Speaks v. State, 377 S.C. 396, 399, 660 S.E.2d 512, 514 (2008). “The model instruction, which emphasized that the State had to prove the accuracy of the identification of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, ‘was designed to focus the attention of the jury on the identification issue and minimize the risk of conviction through false or mistaken identification.’” Speaks, 377 S.C. at 399, 660 S.E.2d at 514 (emphasis added) (citing State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 59, 543 S.E.2d 541, 547 (2001)). Further, In State v. Simmons, this Court “admonish[ed] the trial bench that in single witness identification cases the court should instruct the jury that the burden of proving the identity of the defendant rests with the state.” State v. Simmons, 308 S.C. 80, 83, 417 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1992) (Emphasis added).

The instant case, however, is not a one witness identification case as Patricia Rice, who was present at the time of the robbery, also identified Petitioner as the person who committed the robbery. In similar cases, the South Carolina Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have found the Telfaire instruction unnecessary and even a comment on the facts of the case, which is prohibited under the South Carolina Constitution. See S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 (“Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.”); see also, State v. Robinson, 274 S.C. 198, 262 S.E.2d 729 (1980) (finding under the circumstances of that case the Telfaire charge would be a comment on the facts

and the charge given “adequately focused the attention of the jury on the necessity for a finding that the testimony identified defendant as the offender beyond a reasonable doubt; therefore, no prejudice resulted to defendant from the failure to give the requested instruction.”); State v. Motes, 264 S.C. 317, 215 S.E.2d 190 (1975) (finding where two individuals, including the wife driving the vehicle from which the defendant fired fatal shots, identified the defendant, the Telfaire instruction was not necessary because the court’s instruction adequately focused the attention of the jury on the necessity for a finding that the testimony identified defendant as the offender beyond a reasonable doubt); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 522 S.E.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding trial court did not err in refusing to give Telfaire charge because it would amount to charge on the facts of the case and the charge given adequately informed the jury of the need to find the testimony identified the defendant as the offender beyond a reasonable doubt).

Petitioner sought a charge even more detailed than the Telfaire charge. Specifically, he asked the court to charge:

1. Whether the witness knew the defendant before the crime took place.
2. Whether the witness had a good opportunity to see the person.
3. Whether the witness seemed as though he was paying careful attention to what was going on.
4. Whether any description given by the witness was close to the way the defendant actually looked.
5. How much time had passed between the crime and the first identification by the witness.
6. Whether, at the time of the first identification by the witness, the conditions were such that the witness was likely to make a mistake because he was "cued" by the circumstances, for example, was the witness asked to pick out the person he saw from a group of similar people, was the witness asked to pick the defendant from a group of dissimilar persons, or was the witness simply asked if the defendant standing alone was the person involved?

(Defense Counsel's Request 7; R. 194). The trial court gave the first two portions of the requested charge. It is the last four requested statements that Petitioner contends should have been given. The charges, especially number 6, are an impermissible comment on the specific facts of this case, and are unnecessary to convey to the jury the importance of finding the identification was made beyond a reasonable doubt.

The charge given in the instant case, when viewed as a whole, more than adequately informed the jury of its role in determining the reliability and weight to be afforded the victim's identification of Petitioner. The trial court informed the jury of their function in determining the credibility of witnesses; including their ability to believe or reject any portion of the testimony, and the fact they may consider whether the witness has an interest in the result of the trial or is prejudiced for or against the defendant. (T.247; R. 168). Further, the court provided a standard reasonable doubt charge indicating the State's burden of proving "each and every element" beyond a reasonable doubt, and properly defining reasonable doubt. (T.248-249; R. 169-170).

The trial court then specifically instructed the jury regarding the issue of the identification of Petitioner. The court charged:

A sign - - an issue in this case is the identification of the Defendant as the person who committed the crime charged. The State has the burden of proving identity beyond a reasonable doubt. You must be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt the accuracy of the Defendant - - excuse me - - the accuracy of the identification of the Defendant before you may convict him. Identification testimony is an expression or belief or impression by - - expression of belief or impression by a witness. You must determine the accuracy of the identification of the Defendant. You must consider the believability of each identification witness in the same way as any other witness.

You may consider whether the witness had an adequate opportunity to observe the offender at the time of the offense. This will be affected by things like how long or short a time was available to view, how far or close the witness was, the lighting conditions and whether the witness had the chance to see or know the person in the past. Once again, I instruct you that the burden of proof on the State extends to every element of the crime charged and this specifically includes the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the Defendant as the person who committed this offense or these offenses.

(T.249-250; R. 170-171).

As the Court of Appeals properly found, the instructions given in this case adequately informed the jury of its role as arbiter of reliability and whether the State met its burden of demonstrating Petitioner's identity as the robber beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court, therefore, did not err in refusing to give the remainder of Petitioner's requested charge. Accordingly, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to this Question.

**III. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the trial court's jury charge when the court did not err in giving the jury a correct and complete charge on the law of armed robbery and the lesser included offense of strong armed robbery.**

The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial court did not place undue emphasis on any one portion of the charge, but instead properly corrected the prior omission of the law. Petitioner could not have been prejudiced by the trial court's correction to provide the jury with a complete and accurate statement of the law; alternatively, the State would have been highly prejudiced had the correct law not been given to the jury.

The trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. Sheppard v. State, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). "The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial." State v. Knoten, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001). "In reviewing jury charges for error, we must consider the court's jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial." State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 478–79, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010).

In this case, the court was required to properly charge the jury regarding the law of armed robbery and common law robbery. Armed robbery occurs when a "person . . . commits robbery while armed with a pistol, dirk, slingshot, metal knuckles, razor, or other deadly weapon, or while alleging, either by action or words, he was armed while using a representation of a deadly weapon or any object which a person present during the commission of the robbery reasonably believed to be a deadly weapon. S.C. Code Ann. § 16–11–330 (2003) (emphasis added). The jury may, therefore, convict Petitioner or armed robbery if it finds he committed the robbery while armed with a deadly weapon, or if Petitioner represented he was and the victim believed it to be a deadly weapon.

Only if the jury finds Petitioner did not use a weapon and Petitioner did not allege he was using a representation of a weapon then the jury should consider the lesser included offense of robbery. “Included in armed robbery is the lesser included offense of robbery, which is defined as ‘the felonious or unlawful taking of money, goods, or other personal property of any value from the person of another or in his presence by violence or by putting such person in fear.’” State v. Mitchell, 382 S.C. 1, 4-5, 675 S.E.2d 435, 437 (2009).

The trial court properly charged the jury on the definition and elements of armed robbery. Explaining in order to convict Petitioner of armed robbery, the State must prove “beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant was armed with a deadly weapon during the robbery or alleged, either by action or words, he was armed while using a representation of a deadly weapon or any object which a person present during the commission of the robbery reasonably believed to be a deadly weapon.” (T. 261; R. 182). The court then defined a deadly weapon. The trial court then explained: “Now, if you find that the State has failed to prove that the Defendant was armed with a deadly weapon, you may then consider whether the State has proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed robbery, which is also known as strong arm robbery.” (T.262; R. 183). The court then defined robbery for the jury.

The court, however, failed to instruct the jury that the only way to consider the lesser included offense of robbery or strong arm robbery, was for the jury also to find the State failed to prove Petitioner did not allege he was armed while using a representation of a deadly weapon or an object the victim reasonably believed to be a weapon. (T.262; R. 183). The State correctly pointed out the court’s failure to charge the jury must find

the State failed to prove both possible means of demonstrating armed robbery before considering the lesser included offense. (T.263-264; R. 184-185).

The court then provided the jury with a correct charge on the law of armed robbery and the lesser included offense of robbery. The court properly defined the elements of armed robbery. Then the court correctly explained what the jury had to find in order to consider the lesser included offense. Specifically the judge charged: If you find that the State has failed to prove that the Defendant was armed with a deadly weapon or with a representation of a deadly weapon after having alleged that he was armed, then you may consider whether or not, uh, he is guilty of Strong Arm Robbery.” (T.265; R. 186).

The victim in this case alleged Petitioner pushed him to the ground and took out his pocketknife. He admitted not seeing the knife because Petitioner pushed it into his neck. He explained he knew it was a knife because he felt it. (R.75). Clearly, even if Petitioner was not armed with an actual pocketknife, by placing a sharp object to the victim’s neck, he represented he was armed with a deadly weapon and the victim reasonably believed this representation.

The trial court merely gave a correct, and complete, statement of the law as he is obligated. Petitioner cannot be prejudiced by the trial court’s charge when the charge is entirely correct based on the relevant law on armed robbery and the lesser included offense of robbery or strong arm robbery. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court’s decision to give a complete and accurate statement of the law to the jury. Accordingly, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to this Question.

**IV. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion to relieve counsel and appoint substitute counsel.**

The Court of Appeals correctly found the trial court did not abuse his discretion in denying Petitioner's motion to recuse counsel. Further, the Court of Appeals correctly determined Petitioner was not prejudiced. Counsel did not disclose any confidential information, did not believe the information was provided to her in confidence, and used the information at a preliminary hearing to benefit Petitioner. As a result, there was evidence supporting the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion to relieve counsel.

An accused has the right to the assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). "[A] motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." State v. Justus, 392 S.C. 416, 418, 709 S.E.2d 668, 670 (2011); State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 152, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005). Petitioner bears the burden to show satisfactory cause for removal. State v. Graddick, 345 S.C. 383, 386, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001).

Petitioner filed his motion to relieve counsel on August 9, the first date of trial. The motion was dated August 6. Counsel received notice of trial nearly two weeks before and indicated she gave Petitioner notice his case had been called. Petitioner, therefore, waited until right as trial was beginning to move to relieve his counsel. (T.6-7; Court's Exhibit 1; R. 6-7; 196).

Petitioner maintained his counsel breached confidentiality by disclosing information he divulged to her for use as a surprise at trial. He alleges he told his counsel about his relationship with the woman present with him at the robbery. He maintained he

told counsel they lived together and she was “an ex-live-in common law wife.” He asserted he gave counsel the information so she could “make a file” and “use [the information] as an element of surprise in this court.” (T.9-10; R. 9-10).

Counsel testified she was not given the information in confidence. She presented the information to an investigator to get him to look in that direction to determine if there was more there than originally determined. (T.11; 11). She maintained the real issue between her and Petitioner was his desire to file motions and make arguments as a form of hybrid representation which is not allowed. (T.11-13; R. 11-13). See Jones v. State, 348 S.C. 13, 558 S.E.2d 517 (2002) (counsel cannot serve as a mere conduit for pro se documents in an effort to avoid the prohibition against hybrid representation and the displeasure of his client) and Foster v. State, 298 S.C. 306, 379 S.E.2d 907 (1989).

Most significantly, Patricia Rice, the woman with him at the robbery was testifying on behalf of the State as a witness against Petitioner. The State certainly would know this information from her, and the solicitor even put on the record the fact he knew the two had lived together. As a result, Petitioner’s information would not have been a surprise at trial. The solicitor also specifically indicated he received the information from Rice, his witness, and not opposing counsel. (T.15; R. 15).

Petitioner failed to provide a sufficient basis to warrant removal of his counsel and the trial judge certainly did not abuse his discretion in denying Petitioner’s motion, especially in light of the solicitor’s ability to learn the information directly from the State’s own witness. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court’s decision, and this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to this Question.


**CONCLUSION**

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals.